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(1) ROHM’s Basic Management Policy
The ROHM Group believes that, in creating and improving our overall corporate value, promoting the development 

of innovative products and high-quality manufacturing within our corporate business activities will both improve 

customer satisfaction and contribute to society. Those results will in turn boost employee confidence and pride, and 

inspire new challenges. Moreover, the added-values created by these business activities should be allocated in 

appropriate proportions to all constituents, including shareholders, employees, and stakeholders of local communities, 

while retained earnings should be allotted to business investment and efforts to increase competitive strength. To 

pursue this objective, it is also crucial to obtain the understanding and cooperation of all those with a stake in the 

company’s performance.      

Therefore, since making the ROHM Group more attractive to stakeholders is one of the important missions of 

company management, these activities are incorporated into operations throughout the ROHM Group and seriously 

undertaken for the CSV (Created Shared Value) they deliver. 

With these perspectives, the ROHM Group has committed itself to developing market-leading products. As a 

fundamental policy, the Group pursues a stable supply of high quality, cost-competitive products in high volume 

through optimal utilization of its distinctive production technologies that will help to maintain a leading position in 

the global semiconductor and electronic components market. 

(2) Mid-to Long-term Corporate Strategies
<1> Focus Market

①The Automotive, Industrial Equipment Markets

The automotive market and the industrial equipment market which is seeing increased computerization and energy

saving, require high quality, high reliability, stable supply of products – all of which the ROHM Group can extremely

provide.

②Overseas Market

ROHM is strengthening sales activities to capture and keep overseas customers not only in Europe and the USA but

also in Asia and other emerging countries where markets are growing and globalizing rapidly. We are building systems

to cover the full gamut of services from product configuration to development, sales and technical support, which will

enable us to meet a wide range of needs of overseas customers and promote increasing both sales and shares of

overseas markets.

<2> Focus Products

①Power

Because of the growing needs to conserve and more efficiently use energy, the ROHM Group had been developing and

strengthening lineups of SiC devices of smaller sizes and greatly reduced power loss compared to conventional Si

semiconductors. These products have been adopted for a variety of applications centered around the automotive and

industrial equipment markets. Besides SiC devices, we will continue promoting the best power solutions for customers

by combining our core power devices and module technologies with high-performance power ICs, driver ICs,

IGBT(*1)s, power MOSFETs, etc.

*1. IGBT (Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor)

A bipolar transistor (*2) that lessens the operating resistance by incorporating a MOSFET (*3) for the gate. Suited for

high current switching, IGBTs are often used for power control applications.

*2. Bipolar transistor

A 3-terminal semiconductor that structures N-type and P-type semiconductors into either P-N-P or N-P-N junctions.

Bipolar transistors are widely used in electronic devices for current amplification/switching and other signal processing

tasks.
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*3. MOSFET (Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor)

A type of field-effect-transistor that enables faster switching with less power consumption than bipolar transistors, and

is widely used in a variety of electronic products.

②Analog

With accelerating automotive digitization and progressing energy saving in the automotive and industrial equipment

markets, the ROHM Group will be developing advanced analog solutions, such as high-performance power

management ICs and motor driver ICs, LED driver ICs. We will also expand the reference business in and around the

automotive and industrial equipment markets by cooperating with leading processor manufacturers.

③Standard Products

About resistor and small signal semiconductor, general purpose IC, we supply high quality and high reliability products

mainly for automotive and industrial equipment markets stably.

<3> Enhancement of Manufacturing

To stably grow our business over the mid- to long-term, the ROHM Group will be strengthening its production system

to stably supply products all around the world. We will also be using RPS activities(*4) to reduce waste and enhance

efficiency, and will be looking to strengthen cost competitiveness by shortening lead-times and further improving

quality in all aspects of operations. Moreover, to make “Zero Defects” a reality, we will be developing technologies and

investing in equipment needed to build a state-of-the-art quality management system.

*4 RPS (ROHM Production System) activities

A production system centered on improvement activities for integrating higher quality into products, shortening lead

time and thoroughly eliminating waste in inventory and other operations at all Group plants. ROHM believes that

establishing production systems of unparalleled efficiency and quality is essential for strengthening the Group’s earning

structure.

(3) Status of Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance System
①Status of Efforts to Improve the Internal Control System

Enhancing our internal control system is one of the most important management topics. The ROHM Group is 

committed to maintaining proper business processes throughout the entire group, thereby fulfilling our corporate social 

responsibility requirements. We will promote our basic policies and conduct maintenance activities to build our internal 

control system while taking note of the following points. 

ROHM made a transition to a company with an Audit and Supervisory Committee on the general shareholders' meeting 

on June 27, 2019 and the basic policy is mentioned as after the transition, and  

1. The system to ensure the compliance of the execution of duties of the Directors under applicable laws as well as the

Articles of Incorporation

a. In order to promote further progress of globalization, ROHM Group sustain not only laws but also the 10 principles

of the United Nations Global Compact for a wide range of problems in the areas of human rights, labor, the

environment, anti-corruption, etc, and contribute to the solution of these social issues(SDGs) by ROHM's product and

technology. Also, we promote the CSR management complying with “ISO26000,” the international standards for social

responsibility and “Responsible Business Alliance (RBA) Code of Conduct”.

b. Directors should perform their duties based on the in-house regulations such as “ROHM Group Business Conduct

Guidelines” and the Basic Rules of the Board of Directors and ensure the compliance with all applicable laws and

regulations as well as the Articles of Incorporation
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c. The Director or Directors who are highly informed in a specific field should be responsible for the duties related to

such field, while all Directors should hold discussions and monitor each other on a daily basis concerning the

respective individual fields.

d. Should a Director be found having committed an illegal act by another Director, it should be promptly reported to the

Board of Directors and the Audit and Supervisory Committee.

e. Outside Directors should regularly hold the meeting to exchange information and opinions with each other and

constantly check that Directors perform their duties in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations as well as

the Articles of Incorporation.

f. The Compliance Hotline (the internal hotline system (including the case where the hotline system independent from

the management is set up at an outside law firm) and hotline system for suppliers) should be deployed to the entire

ROHM Group including overseas entities to discover any illegal conduct of a Director and to prevent recurrence

thereof.

g. We establish the independent internal audit division and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the internal control

system.

2. System to save and control information related to Directors’ performance of duties

a. Decisions regarding Directors’ performance of their duties, such as the minutes of general shareholder meetings, the

minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors, executive proposals, business plans for individual fiscal years, etc.,

should be saved in writing. The documents should be saved and controlled in compliance with all applicable laws and

regulations as well as all in-house regulations.

b. The directions and notices provided to Group companies or in-house divisions concerned shall be issued via email or

in writing as a rule. The directions and notices shall be saved so as to be inspected at any time by Directors.

c. Information related to Directors’ performance of duties should be kept and controlled duly by relevant sections or

divisions concerned, and the leak and unjust use of such information must be prevented by giving internal notice and

information security training to all employees to ensure that they are fully aware of and comply with such rule.

3. System to ensure that Directors perform their duties efficiently

a. The Board of Directors should consist of a small number of Directors authorized to execute business operations to

realize prompt executive decision-making.

b. The Board of Directors should have Directors who are highly experienced in different fields. The Board should

divide duties to the Director in charge of that certain field and have him/her perform the specific duties of that field.

c. Issues that may have a considerable influence on corporate management should be examined, analyzed and reported

by in-house project teams established separately for individual issues. Upon completion of such examination, prompt

decisions should be made by way of a meeting of Board of Directors or executive proposals, as appropriate, based on

the Articles of Incorporation and in-house regulations.

d. The in-house written standards of in-house control procedures regarding various managerial issues such as risk

control and information control should be strictly observed.

e. To increase the competitiveness of ROHM Group and to ensure a fair amount of profits, business performance targets

should be established as part of annual profit-raising projects for the entire ROHM Group and individual divisions, and

progress and achievement status of such projects and targets should be controlled.

4. System to ensure that employees perform their duties in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations as well

as the Articles of Incorporation

a. The Compliance Committee should be organized and across-the-group compliance actions should be taken by

implementing the “ROHM Group Business Conduct Guidelines”. A compliance system of the Group companies should

be created based on the system of our company, and a leader for each division should be nominated as a leader to raise

the awareness of the importance of compliance and to ensure the ongoing compliance of each division.
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b. To cope with proprietary laws and regulations in a proper manner, not only the CSR Committee but also the

Corporate Safety and Health Committee, Compliance Committee, Information Disclosure Committee, and

Environmental Conservation Committee, should be committed to such actions as checking the status of compliance for

the entire Group and performing ongoing educational activities.

c. Under the control of the Information Disclosure Committee, individual sections and divisions should properly

control insider information and educate employees in the interest of and raising awareness of the importance of strict

information handling, to prevent insider trading.

d. The Compliance Hotline (the internal hotline system (including the case where the hotline system independent from

the management is set up at an outside law firm) and hotline system for suppliers) should be deployed to the entire

ROHM Group including overseas entities, to uncover any illegal conduct of an employee and to prevent any recurrence

thereof.

5. System to ensure compliance of the Group’s corporate operations

a. ROHM Group shares the corporate mission and policy, which are the basis of the founding spirit of the Company,

and carries out the business activities with the concerted efforts as the Group in order to enhance the corporate values

of the entire Group.

b. Each Committee under the Company’s CSR Committee should supervise and control Group companies

comprehensively to ensure proper execution of duties in each responsible area.

c. Written standards applicable to the entire ROHM Group should be established and implemented.

d. The compliant business operations of Group companies should be monitored by appointing employees of the

Company or another Group company to Group companies’ Board of Directors or Company Auditors.

e. A system should be operated that requires the Board of Directors’ resolution or an executive decision at the Company

to settle critical issues at the Group companies level and periodical reports to the Company’s relevant divisions from

Group companies should be made, thus enabling to control Group companies.

f. An internal control system that includes the Company and significant Group companies should be established and

reinforced through a framework that ensures financial reporting compliance and through efforts to conform to the

auditing system.

g. The Company’s internal auditing division under the direct control of the President should perform internal audits to

check each Group company’s situations of execution of duties, compliance with all applicable laws and regulations as

well as in-house regulations, risk management, etc.

6. Directors and employees to assist the Audit and Supervisory Committee’s duties, independence of the Directors and

employees from Directors(except the Company Director who are Audit and Supervisory Committee) and to ensure

effectiveness of the instruction to such Directors and employees

a. The Company can appoint staff employees with necessary practical capabilities.

b. The staff employees should not do duties related to the business execution. In the employment, transfer and

evaluation of performance of those staffs, opinions from the Audit and Supervisory Committee shall be respected.

7. System of report to the Audit and Supervisory Committee, and system not to be treated disadvantageously by the

reason of such reports

a. Should Directors be found to have committed an illegal conduct in the performance of Directors’ duties, any neglect

in the obligation of being duly conscious as good Directors, or any fact that may damage the Company considerably,

etc. by another Director, it should be promptly reported to the Audit and Supervisory Committee.

b. The meetings of committees, not only the CSR Committee but also the Risk Management/BCM Committee,

Compliance Committee, and Information Disclosure Committee should be attended by full-time Audit and Supervisory

Committee Member as observers, and individual committees should make periodical reports on their activities to the

Audit and Supervisory Committee by submitting meeting minutes or by other appropriate means.
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c. A system should be retained whereby the status and results of business operations can be properly reported to the

Audit and Supervisory Committee through executive proposals and reports.

d. Directors and employees of the Company and Group companies should promptly make a necessary report if they are

asked by the Audit and Supervisory Committee to make a report of their business operations.

e. A section in charge of the Compliance Hotline should make periodical reports on situations and results thereof to the

Audit and Supervisory Committee.

f. If each Director or Auditor of the group company find violation of laws or the Articles of Incorporation or other

in-house regulations or any fact that may damage the ROHM Group considerably regarding the execution of business,

it should be promptly reported to the Audit and Supervisory Committee by those or a person who received a report

from those.

g. Employees that have reported to the Audit and Supervisory Committee shall not disadvantageously treated by the

reason of such reports according to applicable laws and regulations as well as in-house regulations.

8. Other systems to ensure that the audits by the Audit and Supervisory Committee are performed effectively

a. Concerning the status of the operation of the internal control system, Directors should report to the Audit and

Supervisory Committee where requested.

b. The internal audit division should strengthen the collaboration with the Audit and Supervisory Committee and report

the results of audit periodically.

c. All Audit and Supervisory Committee should be Outside Directors. The Audit and Supervisory Committee should be

a strongly independent group consisting of diversified experts, including legal specialists, accounting specialists, and

those who used to work for financial institutions.

d. The Audit and Supervisory Committees should exchange opinions with the Company Director who are not Audit and

Supervisory Committee whenever necessary.

e. The expenses that the Audit and Supervisory Committee deem to be necessary when they perform their duties should

be borne by the Company.

②Progress of Development of Risk Management System
We are striving to improve our risk management system accordance with the following policy. 

1. Under the CSR Committee chaired by the President himself, Committees of Quality, Corporate Safety and Health,

Risk Management/BCM, Compliance, Information Disclosure, Environmental Conservation, etc. should be established

as company-wide cross-sectional committees. These committees will appropriately respond to various management

issues and risks in each responsible area by taking necessary measures, giving directions and solving problems.

2. The Risk Management/BCM Committee should be organized to identify, analyze and control major risks that may

occur in the course of the performance of business operations. In order to avoid or minimize the effect of unforeseeable

circumstances such as sudden natural disasters as much as possible and enable the survival of our business as a

consequence, the Risk Management/BCM Committee will verify the activities of each section in charge of risk

management, establish a business continuity plan and take any and all possible preliminary measures or preparations

across ROHM Group.

3. As a corporate effort to eradicate antisocial groups, a Risk Management Office should be established in the

Department of General Affairs. The Office should cooperate and exchange information with external specialist

organizations such as the police department, promote specific actions and perform them thoroughly, to eradicate

antisocial groups. In-house regulations should be established to eradicate antisocial groups and should be strictly

observed. All ROHM Group employees should be informed by way of the “ROHM Group Business Conduct

Guidelines”, as distributed to all employees, or by other means, that they must take a firm stand against antisocial

groups. Further, the necessity of taking a firm stand against antisocial groups should be communicated to all employees
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through various in-house training sessions. 

③Outline of the Status of the Operation of the Corporate System to Ensure Proper Operation
ROHM Group is striving to build the internal control system and properly operate it based on the basic policies to build 

the internal control system. The outline of the status of the operation of the internal control system during the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 2019 is as follows: 

1. Compliance system

a. ROHM Group not only makes all Directors and employees fully aware of the “ROHM Group Business Conduct

Guidelines” as their codes of conduct to comply with when they practice the mission and policy such as “Company

Mission” and “Management Policy” but also thoroughly ensures that they act according to such Guidelines.

b. ROHM Group regularly holds the Compliance Committee in order to formulate a plan to reinforce the compliance

system, implement education by rank and by role in accordance with the plan, send the message from the top

concerning the compliance with the “ROHM Group Business Conduct Guidelines,” etc.

c. ROHM Group operates the internal hotline system to prevent compliance violations, discover violations early, and

take appropriate measures. ROHM Group also regularly reports the status of the operation to the Board of Directors

and Company Auditors.

2. Risk management system

ROHM Group holds the Risk Management/BCM Committee as needed to identify, analyze and control major risks that

may occur in the course of the performance of business operations. Also, in order to avoid or minimize the effect of

unforeseeable circumstances such as sudden natural disasters as much as possible and enable the survival of our

business as a consequence, the Risk Management/BCM Committee verifies the activities of each section in charge of

risk management, establishes a business continuity plan (BCP) and takes any and all possible preliminary measures or

preparations across ROHM Group.

3. Subsidiary management system

a. ROHM Group manages Group companies by operating the system that requires the approval of the Company’s

Board of Directors and final decision on executive proposals regarding important projects in Group companies, and

also by each division of the Company regularly receiving the report with respect to the status of its operation.

b. Based on an annual plan, the Company’s internal auditing division under the direct control of the President performs

internal audits to check each Group company’s situations of execution of duties, compliance with all applicable laws

and regulations as well as in-house regulations, risk management, etc., and confirms the compliance of business. Also,

the results of audits are periodically reported to Directors and Company Auditors.

4. Directors’ performance of duties

a. The regular Board of Directors is held according to the annual plan and the extraordinary Board of Directors is held

where necessary to resolve matters stipulated in laws and regulations or Articles of Incorporation as well as matters

which are important for management and to mutually supervise the performance of Directors’ duties.

b. Matters to be delegated to each Director are made clear in the Basic Rules of the Board of Directors and in the

in-house regulations to ensure Directors’ efficient and agile performance of their duties.

c. Information related to Directors’ performance of duties is properly kept and controlled duly according to the in-house

regulations, and the leak and unjust use of such information are prevented.

5. Company Auditors’ performance of duties

a. Company Auditors attend not only the Board of Directors but also other important meetings such as the CSR

Committee to offer opinions as needed.

b. Company Auditors visit each division of the Company and Group companies for auditing and confirm the legality
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and compliance of business operations. 

c. Company Auditors regularly exchange information and opinions with Directors, accounting auditors and internal

auditing divisions to improve effectiveness of auditing.

Overview of Contents of Liability Limitation Agreement 
ROHM and its outside directors have entered into a liability limitation agreement, in accordance with the provisions of 

Article 427-1 of the Companies Act of Japan and the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, regarding liability for 

damages as covered in Article 423-1 of the same Act, stipulating minimum total liability as per the provisions of Article 

425-1 of the same Act.

Status of Outside Officers 
①Number of Outside Directors, Interpersonal Relationships with Submitting Company Members, Capital

Relationships or Business Relationships, and Other Potential Conflicts of Interest
ROHM appoints five Outside Directors (four out of five are Audit and Supervisory Committee members) to enhance 

supervisory functions by Board of Directors. In order to ensure the effectiveness of the audit with regards to the 

execution of management duties, all Audit and Supervisory Committee members are Outside Directors. It should be 

noted that outside directors own shares of Company stock but may not have conflicts of interest, including 

interpersonal relationships, shareholding, capital relationships, and business relationships, that interfere with their 

independence. 

②Criteria and Policy for Independence, and Functions and Roles of Outside Directors
We strengthen our supervisory and audit functions by asking the Outside Directors to provide advice and 

recommendations on company management, etc. from an independent standpoint and based on the wealth of 

experience and wide range of insight cultivated from their careers, and by having them attend Board Meetings and 

other important meetings. 

As for the relationship between the Outside Directors and audits, status reports are made in writing by the internal audit 

division to the Outside Directors on a monthly basis or as necessary. 

Regarding the collaboration between the Outside Directors and the Internal Control Division, the status of business 

execution, progress of profit planning, etc. are reported in writing by the Internal Audit Division to the Outside 

Directors monthly or whenever necessary. 

ROHM believe that Outside Directors should be highly independent, and with regard to the selection of Outside 

Directors, we determines their independence on the basis of the provisions of the Company’s “Independence Standards 

for Outside Officers”. 

The Company’s “Independence Standards for Outside Officers” are as follows: 

<Independence Standards for Outside Officers> 

The Company appoints only persons who do not fall into any of the following categories of persons as its Outside 

Officers. 

1. A major shareholder1 of the Company or a person who executes the business of the Company2;

2. A person who executes the business of a company of which the Company is a major shareholder;

3. A major customer3 of the Group or a person who executes the business of that major customer;

4. An organization for whom the Group is a major customer4 or a person who executes the business of said

organization;

5. A consultant, accounting expert or legal expert who, in addition to director's remuneration, receives money exceeding

a certain amount or other assets5 from the Group (or an organization that receives the said assets or a person who

belongs to the said organization);

6. A person who receives donations or grants exceeding a certain amount6 from the Group (or an organization that

Management Policies

7



receives the said grants is, or a director of that organization or a person who executes the business of that organization); 

7. A partner, member or employee of the accounting auditors of the Company;

8. A person who executes the business of a major lender of the Company7;

9. A person who fell into any of the categories described in 1 to 8 above in the last three years;

10. An organization to whom a director of the Group is transferred or a person who executes the business of said

organization, or;

11. The spouse of an important person who executes the business of the Group8 or a relative of that person within the

second degree of relationship.

1 A major shareholder means a shareholder holding at least 10% of the total voting rights of the Company. 
2 A person who executes business means a director, an executive officer, a member or an employee. 
3 A major customer means a company whose payments account for over 2% of annual consolidated sales of the 

Company. 
4 An organization for whom the Group is a major customer means a company with over 2% in annual sales coming 

from the Company. 
5 A certain amount means ten million yen per year for an individual and over 2% of total revenue for an organization. 
6 A certain amount means over ten million yen per year. 
7 A major lender of the Company means a lender from which an amount exceeding 2% of total consolidated assets of 

the Company is borrowed. 
8 An important person who executes business means a director (excluding outside directors) or a person in the senior 

management position of general manager or above. 

The Mutual collaboration Between Supervision or Audits by Outside Directors, Internal Audits, Audit and 
Supervisory Committee’s Audits and Accounting Audits 

Our Company’s Audit and Supervisory Committee are all Outside Directors and cooperation with these Outside 

Directors and internal audits and accounting audits is described in the “Status of Audits” 

(4) Status of Audits
Status of Audit and Supervisory Committee's Audits

The Audit and Supervisory Committee Members attend important meetings, such as the Board of Directors meetings, 

and check important documents, also exchange audit opinions by holding the Audit and Supervisory Committee. 

Also they visit the site, hold meetings with those in managerial positions toward individual divisions of ROHM and its 

affiliates at home and abroad. Through these audits, ROHM checks that the Directors are performing their duties in 

compliance with existing laws, ROHM's internal control is well maintained and operated. 

In addition, all 4 members of the Audit and Supervisory Committee are independent outside directors, and the Audit 

and Supervisory Committee, Toshiro Miyabayashi and Kumiko Tanaka, are certified public accountants (CPA) that 

possess considerable knowledge of finance and accounting. 

Status of Internal Audits 
Regarding the internal audit, the internal audit division visit the site, inspect documents and reports toward individual 

divisions of ROHM and its affiliates at home and abroad. Through these audits, ROHM checks that ROHM's internal 

control is well maintained and operated, in-house rules are well observed, and that ROHM's assets are secured. 
Currently, there are 9 personnel in the Internal Audit Division. 

The contents of audits are reported to the Audit and Supervisory Committee as needed, and opinions are exchanged on 

matters that require improvements regarding internal control. 

The Audit and Supervisory Committee, the internal audit division, and Accounting Auditors regularly hold report 
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meetings, consistently maintain close cooperation and coordination, and proactively exchange information and 

opinions. Sharing information obtained through individual audits enhances the accuracy of audits and allows for 

constant improvements in operating processes. 

Status of Accounting Audits 
a. Audit firm name:Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC

b. Designated limited liability partners of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu:Yasuhiro Onishi, Tomoyuki Suzuk, Hiromi Ueda

c. Assistants in the audits:13 CPAs and 13 others

d. Selection pokicy and reason of audit firm

On the occasion of the appointment, the reappointment, the dismissal of the accounts inspector, we evaluate and decide

appropriately taking the cooperation system with auditors of the overseas network farm

or other auditors and quality control system and specialty, independency into consideration after having gathered

information from our financial accounting division, internal audit division and Accounting Auditors based on the

Accounting Auditors evaluation standard that the Board of Company Auditors developed.

In addition, the Board of Company Auditors may dismiss the Independent Auditor based on a unanimous decision when

the Board of Company Auditors has decided that the Independent Auditor has violated or infringed such laws as the

Companies Act or the Certified Public Accountants Act or have offended public order or morals.

The Board of Company Auditors may decide the proposal regarding dismiss or not to reappoint the Independent

Auditor and based on such decision the Board of Directors shall submit such proposal at the General Shareholders

Meeting when it is deemed difficult for the Independent Auditors to perform audits properly due to an event that may

damage their qualification or independence.

As a result of having discussed with these policies, the Board of Company Auditors admitted that the reappointment of

the present Accounting Auditors was considerable.

e. Evaluation of audit firm by the Company Auditors and the Board of Company Auditors

Our Company Auditors and Board of Company Auditors evaluated applicable items of the Accounting Auditors

evaluation standard. As a result, we accepted the method and the result of the audit by the present Accounting Auditors

was substantial. And the resolution of reappointing the present Accounting Auditors was done by the Board of

Company Auditors. 

Management Policies

9



2009 2010 2011 2012

For the Year:

Net sales.............................................................................. ¥ 317,141     ¥ 335,641     ¥ 341,886     ¥ 304,653

Cost of sales........................................................................ 217,282 229,831 219,150 209,046

Selling, general and administrative expenses..................... 89,319 87,000 89,999 89,254

Operating income (loss)...................................................... 10,540 18,810 32,737 6,353

Income (loss) before income taxes...................................... (25,520 ) 10,836 19,400 (2,697 )

Income taxes....................................................................... (33,775 ) 4,001 9,524 13,374

Net income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent....... 9,837 7,134 9,633 (16,107 )

Capital expenditures............................................................ 51,491 30,216 40,042 51,117

Depreciation and amortization............................................ 48,951 48,446 39,019 34,925

Per Share Information (in Yen and U.S. Dollars):

Basic net income (loss)....................................................... ¥ 89.76 ¥ 65.10 ¥ 88.07 ¥ (149.41 )

Cash dividends applicable to the year................................. 130.00 130.00 130.00 60.00

At Year-End:

Current assets...................................................................... ¥ 464,187     ¥ 462,435     ¥ 436,247     ¥ 434,457

Current liabilities................................................................. 68,325 68,850 64,334 74,337

Equity.................................................................................. 709,841 707,719 668,779 634,280

Total assets.......................................................................... 809,185 807,340 759,989 737,326

Number of employees......................................................... 22,034 21,005 21,560 21,295

Notes: 1. U.S. Dollar amounts are provided solely for convenience at the rate of ¥111 to U.S. $1, the approximate exchange rate at March 31, 2019. 
2. Certain reclassifications of previously reported amounts have been made to conform with the classifications in the 2019 financial statements.
3. Diluted net income per share for 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is not disclosed because there were no outstanding

potentially dilutive securities and ROHM CO., LTD., was in a net loss position for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.
4. Effective April 1, 2010, ROHM CO., LTD., and its consolidated subsidiaries applied a new accounting standard for asset retirement obligations.

The effect of this change was to decrease “Operating Income” by ¥73 million and “Income before income taxes” by ¥784 million for the year
ended March 31, 2011.

5. From the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2019, we are applying the Partial Amendments to Accounting Standards for Tax Effect
Accounting (Accounting Standards Board of Japan Statement No.28, February 16, 2018). As a result, deferred tax assets appear under investments 
and other assets, and deferred tax liabilities appear under non-current liabilities.

Eleven-Year Summary
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Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

2013   2014   2015   2016   2017   2018   2019   2019 

                                    

¥ 292,411    ¥ 331,088     ¥ 362,773     ¥ 352,398     ¥ 352,010     ¥ 397,107     ¥ 398,989     $ 3,594,495  

213,276    227,015     235,043     230,663     234,967     252,592     254,727     2,294,837  

80,056    80,437     88,929     88,100     85,215     87,510     88,353     795,973  

(921 )   23,636     38,801     33,635     31,828     57,005     55,909     503,685  

(52,414 )   40,179     55,240     31,537     32,378     46,513     60,923     548,856  

10    8,056     9,898     5,835     5,928     9,248     15,454     139,225  

(52,464 )   32,092     45,297     25,686     26,432     37,249     45,442     409,387  

42,818    31,755     48,739     56,687     42,183     55,911     57,291     516,135  

38,857    25,560     34,467     38,338     40,801     43,407     45,416     409,153  

                                    

                                    

¥ (486.63 )   ¥ 297.65     ¥ 420.16     ¥ 241.91     ¥ 249.88     ¥ 352.14     ¥ 431.29     $ 3.89  

30.00    50.00     130.00     130.00     130.00     240.00     150.00     1.35  

                                    

                                    

¥ 423,064    ¥ 461,746     ¥ 523,376     ¥ 473,570     ¥ 495,958     ¥ 504,183     ¥ 511,002     $ 4,603,622  

55,750    52,955     69,660     62,352     69,050     78,056     76,174     686,252  

613,647    663,388     752,434     706,251     725,453     751,878     766,754     6,907,694  

699,014    754,408     864,380     804,134     834,504     864,072     874,428     7,877,730  

20,203    19,985     20,843     21,171     21,308     23,120     22,899       

 

Eleven-Year Summary
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ASSETS
Millions of

Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2019 2018 2019

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)....................................... ¥ 228,065 ¥ 243,974 $ 2,054,640
Marketable securities (Notes 4 and 13)................................... 10,901 16,467 98,207
Short-term investments (Notes 5 and 13)................................ 50,779 45,381 457,468
Notes and accounts receivable (Note 13):

Trade.................................................................................... 89,836 90,611 809,334
Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies...... 19 91 171
Other.................................................................................... 3,068 2,810 27,640
Allowance for doubtful accounts......................................... (70 ) (457 ) (631 )

Inventories (Note 6)................................................................. 120,968 98,289 1,089,802
Refundable income taxes (Note 13)......................................... 481 206 4,333
Prepaid expenses and other...................................................... 6,955 6,811 62,658

Total current assets.............................................................. 511,002 504,183 4,603,622

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Land (Note 7).......................................................................... 66,973 66,810 603,360
Buildings and structures (Note 7)........................................... 241,974 233,592 2,179,946
Machinery, equipment and vehicles (Notes 7 and 15)............ 583,155 544,650 5,253,649
Furniture and fixtures (Notes 7 and 15).................................. 52,054 49,661 468,955
Construction in progress (Note 7)........................................... 22,334 19,692 201,207

Total..................................................................................... 966,490 914,405 8,707,117
Accumulated depreciation....................................................... (714,845 ) (674,178 ) (6,440,045 )

Net property, plant and equipment...................................... 251,645 240,227 2,267,072

Investments and Other Assets:
Investment securities (Notes 4 and 13)................................... 87,003 93,935 783,811
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries 
and associated companies (Note 13)....................................... 680 975 6,126
Asset for retirement benefits (Note 8)..................................... 1,772 2,074 15,964
Other intangible assets (Note 7)............................................... 4,098 5,411 36,919
Deferred tax assets (Note 2. (o) and 12).................................. 6,718 5,974 60,522
Other........................................................................................ 12,213 11,905 110,027
Allowance for doubtful accounts............................................. (703 ) (612 ) (6,333 )

Total investments and other assets....................................... 111,781 119,662 1,007,036
Total.............................................................................................................. ¥ 874,428 ¥ 864,072 $ 7,877,730

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet

12



LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Millions of

Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2019 2018 2019

Current Liabilities:
Notes and accounts payable (Note 13):

Trade.................................................................................... ¥ 16,126 ¥ 18,692 $    145,279
Construction and other......................................................... 30,691 30,364 276,496

Income tax payable (Note 13).................................................. 8,138 10,423 73,315
Accrued expenses.................................................................... 17,689 14,958 159,360
Other........................................................................................ 3,530 3,619 31,802

Total current liabilities......................................................... 76,174 78,056 686,252

Long-term Liabilities:
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 8)................................ 10,689 10,137 96,297
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 2. (o) and 12)............................ 19,965 21,735 179,865
Other ....................................................................................... 846 2,266 7,622

Total long-term liabilities.................................................... 31,500 34,138 283,784

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 14, 15 and 16)

Equity (Notes 9, 17 and 18):
Common stock―authorized, 300,000,000 shares

issued, 110,000,000 shares in 2019
and 111,200,000 shares in 2018.................. 86,969 86,969 783,505

Capital surplus......................................................................... 102,404 102,404 922,559
Retained earnings.................................................................... 634,607 620,152 5,717,180
Treasury stock―at cost 5,493,365 shares in 2019

and 5,425,837 shares in 2018...................... (47,431 ) (47,788 ) (427,306 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (Note 4)... 28,850 33,932 259,910
Foreign currency translation adjustments............................ (35,487 ) (40,667 ) (319,703 )
Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (Note 8). (3,645 ) (3,576 ) (32,838 )

Total................................................................................. 766,267 751,426 6,903,307
Noncontrolling interests.......................................................... 487 452 4,387

Total equity...................................................................... 766,754 751,878 6,907,694
Total.............................................................................................................. ¥ 874,428 ¥ 864,072 $ 7,877,730

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Millions of
Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2019 2018 2017 2019

Net Sales............................................................................................ ¥ 398,989 ¥ 397,107 ¥ 352,010 $ 3,594,495
Cost of sales...................................................................................... 254,727 252,592 234,967 2,294,837

Gross profit................................................................................. 144,262 144,515 117,043 1,299,658
Selling, general and administrative expenses
(Notes 10 and 11).............................................................................. 88,353 87,510 85,215 795,973

Operating Income...................................................................... 55,909 57,005 31,828 503,685

Other Income (Expenses):
Interest and dividend income....................................................... 4,825 3,861 4,053 43,469
Foreign currency exchange gains (losses)―net........................... 3,927 (7,248 ) (766 ) 35,378
Settlement package....................................................................... (1,201 ) (213 ) (149 ) (10,820 )
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment........................... 138 502 252 1,243
Loss on sales and disposal of property, plant and 
equipment..................................................................................... (378 ) (742 ) (619 ) (3,405 )
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets (Note 7)....................... (1,398 ) (7,047 ) (2,455 ) (12,595 )
Loss on valuation of investment securities (Note 4).................... (1 ) (82 ) (58 ) (9 )
Loss on business liquidation........................................................ (254 ) (268 ) (2,288 )
Special severance benefits (Note 8)............................................. (2,094 ) (332 ) (205 ) (18,865 )
Loss on valuation of investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies........................................ (24 )
Other―net................................................................................... 1,450 809 789 13,063

Total other income (expenses)―net.................................... 5,014 (10,492 ) 550 45,171
Income before Income Taxes.......................................................... 60,923 46,513 32,378 548,856

Income Taxes (Note 12):
Current......................................................................................... 16,480 13,573 4,867 148,468
For prior periods.......................................................................... 1,741
Deferred....................................................................................... (1,026 ) (4,325 ) (680 ) (9,243 )

Total income taxes............................................................... 15,454 9,248 5,928 139,225
Net Income........................................................................................ 45,469 37,265 26,450 409,631
Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests................... (27 ) (16 ) (18 ) (244 )
Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent....................... ¥ 45,442 ¥ 37,249 ¥ 26,432 $    409,387

Yen U.S. Dollars
Per Share Information (Note 2. (s)):

Basic net income.......................................................................... ¥ 431.29 ¥ 352.14 ¥ 249.88 $ 3.89
Cash dividends applicable to the year.......................................... 150.00 240.00 130.00 1.35

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Income
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Millions of
Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2019 2018 2017 2019

Net Income........................................................................................ ¥ 45,469 ¥ 37,265 ¥ 26,450 $ 409,631

Other Comprehensive Income (loss) (Note 17):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities................ (5,082 ) 8,493 8,935 (45,784 )
Foreign currency translation adjustments.................................... 5,190 248 (3,867 ) 46,757
Adjustments for retirement benefits............................................. (69 ) 1,587 (147 ) (622 )

Total other comprehensive income (loss)............................. 39 10,328 4,921 351

Comprehensive Income................................................................... ¥ 45,508 ¥ 47,593 ¥ 31,371 $ 409,982

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:
Owners of the parent.................................................................... ¥ 45,471 ¥ 47,605 ¥ 31,381 $ 409,649
Noncontrolling interests............................................................... 37 (12 ) (10 ) 333

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Millions of Yen 

Number of 
shares of 

common stock 
outstanding 

Common 
stock 

Capital 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings 

Treasury 
stock 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

Total Noncontrolling 
interests Total equity 

 

Unrealized 
gain on 

available-for 
-sale securities 

 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

  

Accumulated 
adjustments 

for retirement 
benefits 

Balance at April 1, 2016.................... 105,776,257     ¥ 86,969     ¥ 102,404     ¥ 609,166     ¥ (67,148 )   ¥ 16,504 ¥ (37,104) ¥ (5,016 )   ¥ 705,775 ¥ 476 ¥ 706,251
Net income attributable to owners of 
the parent........................................... 26,432   26,432   26,432

Cash dividends, ¥115.00 per share.... (12,164 )   (12,164 )   (12,164)

Purchase of treasury stock................. (1,090 )   (7 )   (7 )   (7 ) 

Disposal of treasury stock................. 18   (0 )   0   0   0  

Retirement of treasury stock..............  (19,377 )   19,377  
Transfer from retained earnings to 
capital surplus.................................... 19,377   (19,377 )  

Net change in the year....................... 8,935   (3,838 )   (147) 4,950 (9) 4,941

Balance at March 31, 2017................ 105,775,185   86,969    102,404    604,057    (47,778 )   25,439   (40,942 )   (5,163 )   724,986   467   725,453  
Net income attributable to owners of 
the parent.......................................... 37,249   37,249   37,249  

Cash dividends, ¥200.00 per share.... (21,154 )   (21,154 )   (21,154 ) 

Purchase of treasury stock................. (1,033 )   (10 )   (10 )   (10 ) 

Disposal of treasury stock................. 11   0   0   0  

Net change in the year....................... 8,493   275   1,587   10,355   (15) 10,340

Balance at March 31, 2018................ 105,774,163   86,969    102,404    620,152    (47,788 )   33,932   (40,667 )   (3,576 )   751,426   452   751,878  
Net income attributable to owners of 
the parent........................................... 45,442   45,442   45,442 
Cash dividends, ¥195.00 per share.... (20,626 )   (20,626 )   (20,626 ) 

Purchase of treasury stock................. (1,267,565 )    (10,004 )   (10,004 )   (10,004 ) 

Disposal of treasury stock................. 37   0   0   0   0  

Retirement of treasury stock.............  (10,361 )   10,361  
Transfer from retained earnings to 
capital surplus.................................... 10,361   (10,361 )  

Net change in the year....................... (5,082 )   5,180   (69) 29 35   64  

Balance at March 31, 2019................ 104,506,635   ¥ 86,969     ¥ 102,404     ¥ 634,607     ¥ (47,431) ¥ 28,850 ¥ (35,487) ¥ (3,645 )   ¥ 766,267 ¥ 487 ¥ 766,754

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1) 

Common 
stock 

Capital 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings 

Treasury 
stock 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

Total Noncontrolling 
interests Total equity 

    
Unrealized 

gain on 
available-for 

-sale securities 
 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

  

Accumulated 
adjustments 

for retirement 
benefits 

 

Balance at March 31, 2018......................................... $ 783,505     $ 922,559     $ 5,586,955     $ (430,523 )   $ 305,694    $ (366,369 )   $ (32,216 )   $ 6,769,605   $ 4,072     $ 6,773,677  

Net income attributable to owners of the parent.........  409,387   409,387   409,387  

Cash dividends, $ 1.76 per share................................  (185,820 )    (185,820 )   (185,820 ) 

Purchase of treasury stock..........................................   (90,125 )   (90,125 )   (90,125 ) 

Disposal of treasury stock........................................... 0   0   0   0   

Retirement of treasury stock.......................................  (93,342 )   93,342  

Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus..... 93,342   (93,342 )  

Net change in the year................................................. (45,784 )   46,666   (622) 260 315   575  

Balance at March 31, 2019......................................... $ 783,505     $ 922,559     $ 5,717,180     $ (427,306 )   $ 259,910    $ (319,703 )   $ (32,838 )   $ 6,903,307   $ 4,387     $ 6,907,694  

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Millions of 
 Yen 

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1) 

2019 2018 2017 2019 

Operating Activities: 
Income before income taxes.................................................................. ¥ 60,923 ¥ 46,513 ¥ 32,378 $    548,856  
Adjustments for: 

Income taxes – paid............................................................................ (19,180 ) (6,153 ) (5,654 ) (172,793 ) 
Depreciation and amortization........................................................... 45,416   43,407   40,801   409,153  
Amortization of goodwill................................................................... 392   386  
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts..................... (313 ) 148   651   (2,820 ) 
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment―net........................ (80 ) (424 ) (177 ) (721 ) 
Foreign currency exchange losses (gains)―net................................. (1,340 ) 1,582   1,707   (12,072 ) 
Increase in liability for retirement benefits........................................ 467   496   665   4,207  
Decrease in asset for retirement benefits............................................ 350   151   233   3,153  
Special severance benefits(Note 3)..................................................... 2,094   332   205   18,865  
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets............................................. 1,398   7,047   2,455   12,595  
Loss on valuation of investment securities and investments in 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies...................... 1   82   82   9  
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

(Increase) decrease in notes and accounts receivable – trade........ 1,275   (9,434 ) (11,936 ) 11,487  
Increase in inventories.................................................................... (21,847 ) (11,737 ) (251 ) (196,820 ) 
Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable – trade............ (2,764 ) (1,430 ) 2,400   (24,901 ) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable – other............................ (1,706 ) 513   572   (15,369 ) 

Other―net......................................................................................... 1,297   3,242   2,880   11,685  

Total adjustments....................................................................... 5,068   28,214   35,019   45,658  

Net cash provided by operating activities...................................... 65,991   74,727   67,397   594,514  

Investing Activities: 
Decrease (increase) in time deposits―net............................................ (3,358 ) 10,469   3,855   (30,252 ) 
Purchases of marketable and investment securities.............................. (13,404 ) (19,363 ) (10,990 ) (120,757 ) 
Proceeds from sales and redemption of marketable and investment 
securities............................................................................................... 20,550   5,219   8,486   185,135  
Purchases of property, plant and equipment......................................... (54,273 ) (49,863 ) (39,602 ) (488,946 ) 
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment........................ 157   1,006   563   1,415  
Other―net............................................................................................ (3,670 ) (1,986 ) (1,054 ) (33,063 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities............................................. (53,998 ) (54,518 ) (38,742 ) (486,468 ) 

Financing Activities: 
Purchase of treasury stock.................................................................... (10,004 ) (10 ) (7 ) (90,126 ) 
Dividends paid...................................................................................... (20,626 ) (21,154 ) (12,164 ) (185,820 ) 
Other―net............................................................................................ (18 ) (23 ) (3 ) (162 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities............................................ (30,648 ) (21,187 ) (12,174 ) (276,108 ) 

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on Cash and Cash 
Equivalents................................................................................................ 2,746   (1,063 ) (2,268 ) 24,738  
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents........................ (15,909 ) (2,041 ) 14,213   (143,324 ) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year................................. 243,974   246,015   231,802   2,197,964  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year........................................... ¥ 228,065 ¥ 243,974 ¥ 246,015 $ 2,054,640  

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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1. Basis of Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth 

in the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to 
application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to 
the consolidated financial statements issued domestically in order to present them in a form which is more familiar to 
readers outside Japan.

In addition, certain reclassifications have been made to the previously reported amounts to conform with current 
classifications. The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the currency of the country in which 
ROHM CO., LTD. (the “Company”) is incorporated and operates. The translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. 
dollar amounts are included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and have been made at the rate of ¥111 
to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at March 31, 2019. Such translations should not be construed as representations 
that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2019, include the accounts of the Company and its 44 (45 in
2018) significant subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).

Under the control concept, those companies in which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control 
over operations are fully consolidated.

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies are stated at cost. If the equity method of 
accounting had been applied to the investments in these companies, the effect on the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements would not be material.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of an acquired subsidiary at the date of 
acquisition is being amortized over reasonable periods (within 20 years).

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All material 
unrealized profit included in assets resulting from transactions within the Group is also eliminated.

The fiscal year end date of 7 (8 in 2018) subsidiaries, including ROHM SEMICONDUCTOR CHINA CO., LTD., is 
December 31, which is different from the consolidated balance sheet date of March 31. For those subsidiaries, the 
Group consolidated the financial statements as of the provisional closing date of March 31.

(b) Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Under Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Practical Issues Task Force (“PITF”) No. 18, “Practical

Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements,” the accounting policies and procedures applied to a parent company and its subsidiaries for similar 
transactions and events under similar circumstances should in principle be unified for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. However, financial statements prepared by foreign subsidiaries in accordance with 
either IFRS or generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America  tentatively may be used for 
the consolidation process, except for the following items that should be adjusted in the consolidation process so that net 
income is accounted for in accordance with Japanese GAAP, unless they are not material: (a) amortization of goodwill; 
(b) scheduled amortization of actuarial gain or loss of pensions that has been recorded in equity through other
comprehensive income; (c) expensing capitalized development costs of R&D; and (d) cancellation of the fair value
model of accounting for property, plant and equipment and investment properties and incorporation of the cost model
of accounting.

(c) Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term investments that are readily convertible into cash and that are exposed to

insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents include time deposits and certificates of deposit, all of which 
mature or become due within three months of the date of acquisition.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(d) Marketable and Investment Securities 
Marketable and investment securities are classified and accounted for, depending on management’s intent, as 

available-for-sale securities, which are not classified as either trading securities or held-to-maturity debt securities, and 
are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, reported in a separate component of 
equity. 

The Group classifies all marketable and investment securities as available-for-sale securities. 
Nonmarketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost, principally determined by the moving-average method. 
For other-than-temporary declines in fair value, investment securities are reduced to net realizable value by a charge 

to income. 
 

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
The allowance for doubtful accounts is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the companies' past 

credit loss experience and an evaluation of potential losses in the receivables outstanding. 
 

(f) Inventories 
Inventories are mainly stated at the lower of cost, determined by the moving-average method for merchandise, 

finished products, work in process and raw materials and by the last purchase cost method for supplies, or net selling 
value. 

 

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed 

principally by the declining-balance method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets while the straight-line 
method is applied to buildings of the Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries acquired after April 1, 1998. 
Leased equipments are depreciated by the straight-line method over the respective lease periods. 

Estimated useful lives of the assets are principally as follows: 
Buildings and structures……............…. 3 to 50 years 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles....... 2 to 10 years 
 

(h) Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization, which is calculated by the straight-line method. 

 

(i) Long-lived Assets 
The Group reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate the 

carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying 
amount of an asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the 
continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would be measured as the 
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the 
discounted cash flows from the continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling price at 
disposition. 
 

(j) Retirement and Pension Plans 
The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit plans for employees, and account for the 

liability for retirement benefits based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the balance sheet date. The 
projected benefit obligations are attributed to the respective periods on a benefit formula basis. Actuarial gains and 
losses and past service costs that are yet to be recognized in profit or loss are recognized within equity (accumulated 
other comprehensive income), after adjusting for tax effects and actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-
line basis over 10-13 years within the average remaining service period. Past service costs are amortized on a straight-
line basis over 10-13 years within the average remaining service period. The discount rate is determined using a single 
weighted-average discount rate reflecting the estimated timing and amount of the benefit payment. 

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries also have defined contribution pension plans. 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(k) Asset Retirement Obligations 
An asset retirement obligation is recorded for a legal obligation imposed either by law or contract that results from 

the acquisition, construction, development and normal operation of a tangible fixed asset and is associated with the 
retirement of such tangible fixed asset. The asset retirement obligation is recognized as the sum of the discounted cash 
flows required for the future asset retirement and is recorded in the period in which the obligation is incurred if a 
reasonable estimate can be made. If a reasonable estimate of the asset retirement obligation cannot be made in the 
period the asset retirement obligation is incurred, the liability should be recognized when a reasonable estimate of the 
asset retirement obligation can be made. Upon initial recognition of a liability for an asset retirement obligation, an 
asset retirement cost is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related fixed asset by the amount of the 
liability. The asset retirement cost is subsequently allocated to expense through depreciation over the remaining useful 
life of the asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period. Any subsequent revisions to the 
timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows are reflected as an adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the liability and the capitalized amount of the related asset retirement cost. 
 

(l) Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs are charged to “Selling, general and administrative expenses” as incurred. 
 

(m) Leases 
Finance lease transactions are capitalized to recognize lease assets and lease obligations in the balance sheet. 
All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. 

 

(n) Bonuses to Directors Board Members 
Bonuses to Directors Board members are accrued at the year-end to which such bonuses are attributable. 

 

(o) Income Taxes 
The provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax income included in the consolidated statement of 

income. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future 
tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences. 

On February 16, 2018, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 28, “Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for 
Tax Effect Accounting,” which requires deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities to be classified as investments 
and other assets and long-term liabilities, respectively. Deferred tax assets were previously classified as current assets 
and investments and other assets, and deferred tax liabilities were previously classified as current liabilities and long-
term liabilities under the previous accounting standard. The revised accounting standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after April 1, 2018. The Company retrospectively applied the revised accounting standard effective 
April 1, 2018, and deferred tax assets of ¥9,357 million and deferred tax liabilities of ¥30 million which were 
previously classified as current assets and current liabilities, respectively, as of March 31, 2018, have been reclassified 
as investments and other assets and long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 
 

(p) Foreign Currency Transactions 
All short-term and long-term monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

into Japanese yen at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. The foreign exchange gains and losses from 
translation are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 

(q) Foreign Currency Financial Statements 
The balance sheet accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen at the current 

exchange rates as of the balance sheet date, except for equity, which is translated at the historical rate. Differences 
arising from such translation were shown as “Foreign currency translation adjustments” under accumulated other 
comprehensive income in a separate component of equity. 

Revenue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen at the average 
exchange rates. 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

20



(r) Derivatives and Hedging Activities 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange. Foreign 

exchange forward contracts are utilized by the Group to reduce foreign currency exchange risk. The Group does not 
enter into derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transactions are classified and accounted for as follows: (1) all 
derivatives are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value, and gains or losses on derivative 
transactions are recognized in the  statement of income and (2) for derivatives used for hedging purposes, if derivatives 
qualify for hedge accounting because of high correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instruments and the 
hedged items, gains or losses on derivatives are deferred until maturity of the hedged transactions. 

 

(s) Per Share Information 
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted-

average number of common shares outstanding for the period, retroactively adjusted for stock splits. 
The average number of shares used to compute basic net income per share for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 

and 2017 were 105,316 thousand shares, 105,775 thousand shares and 105,776 thousand shares, respectively. 
Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consolidated statement of income are dividends applicable 

to the respective years, including dividends to be paid after the end of the year. 
Diluted net income per share for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are not disclosed because there are no outstanding potentially 

dilutive securities. 
 

(t) New Accounting Pronouncements 
Revenue recognition―On March 30, 2018, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 29, “Accounting Standard for 

Revenue Recognition,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 30, “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Revenue 
Recognition.” The core principle of the standard and guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity should recognize revenue in accordance with 
that core principle by applying the following steps: 

Step 1: Identify the contracts with a customer 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

The accounting standard and guidance are effective for annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021. Earlier 
application is permitted for annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2018. 
 

The Group expects to apply the accounting standard and guidance for annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 
2021, and is in the process of measuring the effects of applying the accounting standard and guidance in future 
applicable periods. 
 

IFRS 16 Leases―On January 13, 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 16 Leases. These 
accounting standards require lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in the consolidated balance 
sheet. There are no significant changes for lessors in these accounting standards. Foreign consolidated subsidiaries will 
adopt IFRS 16 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

 

Certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries expect to apply IFRS 16 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, and are in the process of measuring the effects of applying the accounting standards in future applicable periods. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

21



 

3. Changes in Presentation 
Prior to April 1, 2018, “Settlement package” was included in “Other―net” among the other income (expenses) 

section of the consolidated statement of income. Since the amount became significant during this fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2019, such amount is disclosed separately in the other income (expenses) section of the consolidated 
statement of income for the year ended March 31, 2019. In accordance with this change in presentation, the 
consolidated statement of income for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, have been reclassified. The amounts 
included in “Other―net” for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, were ¥213 million of increase and ¥149 
million, respectively. 

Prior to April 1, 2018, “Special severance benefits” was included in “Other―net” among the operating activities 
section of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Since the amount became significant during this fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2019, such amount is disclosed separately in the operating activities section of the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2019. In accordance with this change in presentation, the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, have been reclassified. The amounts included in 
“Other―net” for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, were ¥332 million of increase and ¥205 million of 
increase, respectively. 

 

4. Marketable and Investment Securities 
Marketable and investment securities as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Current:               

Government and corporate bonds.............................................   ¥ 10,874     ¥ 15,868     $ 97,964  
Other..........................................................................................   27     599     243  

Total......................................................................................   ¥ 10,901     ¥ 16,467     $ 98,207  

 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
NonCurrent:               

Marketable equity securities.....................................................   ¥ 62,782     ¥ 70,274     $ 565,604  
Government and corporate bonds.............................................   22,748     22,060     204,937  
Other..........................................................................................   1,473     1,601     13,270  

Total......................................................................................   ¥ 87,003     ¥ 93,935     $ 783,811  

 

The costs and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2019 and 2018, were as 
follows: 
    Millions of Yen 
    2019 

Securities classified as: 
Available-for-sale: 

  Cost  
Unrealized 

gains  
Unrealized 

losses   Fair Value 

Equity securities.........................................   ¥ 21,941     ¥ 40,976     ¥ (135 )   ¥ 62,782  
Debt securities............................................   33,390    367     (135 )   33,622  
Other...........................................................   947    260     (19 )   1,188  

Total........................................................   ¥ 56,278    ¥ 41,603     ¥ (289 )   ¥ 97,592  
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    Millions of Yen 
    2018 

Securities classified as: 
Available-for-sale: 

  Cost  
Unrealized 

gains  
Unrealized 

losses   Fair Value 

Equity securities.........................................   ¥ 22,434    ¥ 47,851     ¥   (11 )   ¥   70,274  
Debt securities............................................   38,171    573     (816 )   37,928  
Other...........................................................   1,529    292     (30 )   1,791  

Total........................................................   ¥ 62,134    ¥ 48,716     ¥ (857 )   ¥ 109,993  

 

    Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
    2019 

Securities classified as: 
Available-for-sale: 

  Cost  
Unrealized 

gains  
Unrealized 

losses   Fair Value 

Equity securities.........................................   $ 197,667     $ 369,153     $ (1,217 )   $ 565,603  
Debt securities............................................   300,811    3,306     (1,216 )   302,901  
Other...........................................................   8,531    2,343     (171 )   10,703  

Total........................................................   $ 507,009    $ 374,802     $ (2,604 )   $ 879,207  

 

Any marketable and investment securities whose fair values cannot be readily determinable are not included in the 
table above. 

The proceeds, realized gains and realized losses of the available-for-sale securities, which were sold during the years 
ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 
    Millions of Yen 
    2019 

Available-for-sale:   Proceeds  
Realized 

gains  
Realized 

losses 

Equity securities.......................................................................   ¥ 727     ¥ 222     ¥ 0  
Total......................................................................................   ¥ 727     ¥ 222     ¥ 0  

 

    Millions of Yen 
    2018 

Available-for-sale:   Proceeds  
Realized 

gains  
Realized 

losses 

Equity securities........................................................................   ¥ 0     ¥ 0       

Total......................................................................................   ¥ 0     ¥ 0       

 

    Millions of Yen 
    2017 

Available-for-sale:   Proceeds  
Realized 

gains  
Realized 

losses 

Equity securities........................................................................   ¥ 350     ¥ 177       

Total......................................................................................   ¥ 350     ¥ 177       

 

    Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
    2019 

Available-for-sale:   Proceeds  
Realized 

gains  
Realized 

losses 

Equity securities.......................................................................   $ 6,550     $ 2,000     $ 0  
Total......................................................................................   $ 6,550     $ 2,000     $ 0  

 

The losses on valuation of available-for-sale securities for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were ¥1 
million ($9 thousand), ¥82 million and ¥58 million, respectively. 
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5. Short-term Investments 
Short-term investments at March 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of time deposits. 

 

6. Inventories 
Inventories at March 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Merchandise and finished products...............................................   ¥   30,262     ¥ 27,563     $    272,631  
Work in process.............................................................................   56,592     41,644     509,838  
Raw materials and supplies...........................................................   34,114     29,082     307,333  

Total..........................................................................................   ¥ 120,968     ¥ 98,289     $ 1,089,802  

 

 

7. Long-lived Assets 
The Group reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment during the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. In 

recognizing impairment loss on fixed assets, for operating assets, the Group identifies asset groups according to the 
units of management accounting for which revenue and expenditures are managed on a continuous basis, and for idle 
assets, each property is deemed an asset group. As a result, the Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥1,398 million 
($12,595 thousand), ¥7,047 million and ¥2,455 million as other expense for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 
2017, respectively. 

 

The components of impairment loss for the year ended March 31, 2019 were as follows: 
(a) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥1,069 million ($9,631 thousand) for operating assets located in 

United States of America, Thailand and Japan as the estimated future cash flows fell below the carrying amounts 
of some asset groups due to the deterioration of the revenue environment. The carrying amounts of the relevant 
operating assets were reduced to the recoverable amounts which were measured at their value in use, using a 
discount rate of 9.0% for computation of present value of future cash flows or measured at their net selling 
prices, which were based on a reasonable estimation in consideration of market value. 

(b) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥329 million ($2,964 thousand) for idle assets located in Japan, the 
Philippines, Thailand and China, and determined that the idle assets were not likely to be used in the future. The 
carrying amounts of the relevant idle assets were written down to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable 
amounts were measured at their net selling prices, which were based on reasonable estimations in consideration 
of market value of the relevant assets. 

 

The components of impairment loss for the year ended March 31, 2018 were as follows: 
(a) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥6,697 million for operating assets located in Ireland since the 

Group estimated that they likely generate profit less than expected at the time of the business acquisition. The 
carrying amounts of the relevant goodwill and other intangible assets were reduced to the recoverable amounts, 
which were based on third-party assessment. 

(b) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥350 million for idle assets located in Japan, the Philippines, 
Thailand and China, and determined that the idle assets were not likely to be used in the future. The carrying 
amounts of the relevant idle assets were written down to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts 
were measured at their net selling prices, which were based on reasonable estimations in consideration of market 
value of the relevant assets. 
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The components of impairment loss for the year ended March 31, 2017 were as follows: 
(a) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥2,196 million for operating assets located in Japan and Thailand as 

the estimated future cash flows fell below the carrying amounts of some asset groups due to the deterioration of 
the revenue environment. The carrying amounts of the relevant operating assets were reduced to the recoverable 
amounts which were measured at their value in use, using a discount rate of 8.7% for computation of present 
value of future cash flows or measured at their net selling prices, which were based on a reasonable estimation in 
consideration of market value. 

(b) The Group recognized an impairment loss of ¥259 million for idle assets located in Japan, the Philippines, 
Thailand and China, and determined that the idle assets were not likely to be used in the future. The carrying 
amounts of the relevant idle assets were written down to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts 
were measured at their net selling prices, which were based on reasonable estimations in consideration of market 
value of the relevant assets. 

 

8. Retirement and Pension Plans 
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have a defined benefit pension plan, termination 

allowance plan and defined contribution plan for employees. 
The defined benefit plan (funded type plan) provides lump-sum and annuity payments calculated by the cumulative 

number of points to be given mainly based on official position, as well as rank and length of service. In addition, 
certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have cash balance plans. Under the cash balance plans, the amount of 
pension benefits on each employee's personal account are calculated based on points given depending on official 
position and rank of employee, and points determined based on the revaluation rate of the plans. Under the termination 
allowance plan (unfunded type plan), lump-sum payments are calculated by the cumulative number of points given 
based on official position and rank. 

Certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries have a defined benefit plan (funded or unfunded type plan) and a defined 
contribution plan. Under the defined benefit plan (funded or unfunded type plan), lump-sum and annuity payments are 
calculated by salary and length of service. 
 

(1) The changes in defined benefit obligation for the years ended March 31 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Balance at beginning of year.........................................................   ¥ 39,346     ¥ 38,445     $ 354,468  

Current service cost..................................................................   2,645     2,605     23,829  
Interest cost...............................................................................   346     335     3,117  
Actuarial losses (gains).............................................................   605     (696 )   5,449  
Benefits paid.............................................................................   (1,415 )   (1,183 )   (12,746 ) 
Others........................................................................................   51     (160 )   459  

Balance at end of year...................................................................   ¥ 41,578     ¥ 39,346     $ 374,576  

 

(2) The changes in plan assets for the years ended March 31 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Balance at beginning of year.........................................................   ¥ 31,283     ¥ 29,187     $ 281,829  

Expected return on plan assets.................................................   817     707     7,360  
Actuarial losses........................................................................   (367 )   (61 )   (3,306 ) 
Contributions from the employer............................................   1,875     2,591     16,892  
Benefits paid............................................................................   (1,022 )   (862 )   (9,207 ) 
Others.......................................................................................   75     (279 )   675  

Balance at end of year...................................................................   ¥ 32,661     ¥ 31,283     $ 294,243  
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(3) Reconciliation between the liability recorded in the consolidated balance sheet and the balances of defined benefit 
obligation and plan assets were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Funded defined benefit obligation..............................................   ¥ 31,377     ¥ 29,386     $ 282,675  
Plan assets...................................................................................   (32,661 )   (31,283 )   (294,243 ) 
    (1,284 )   (1,897 )   (11,568 ) 

Unfunded defined benefit obligation...........................................   10,201     9,960     91,901  
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation...................   ¥   8,917     ¥   8,063     $   80,333  

 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Liability for retirement benefits...................................................   ¥ 10,689     ¥ 10,137     $ 96,297  
Asset for retirement benefits........................................................   (1,772 )   (2,074 )   (15,964 ) 
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation...................   ¥   8,917     ¥   8,063     $ 80,333  

 

(4) The components of net periodic benefit costs for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2017   2019 
Service cost...................................................   ¥ 2,645     ¥ 2,605     ¥ 2,539     $ 23,829  
Interest cost...................................................   346     335     243     3,117  
Expected return on plan assets......................   (817 )   (707 )   (683 )   (7,360 ) 
Recognized actuarial losses...........................   729     1,148     947     6,567  
Amortization of prior service cost................   175     183     175     1,577  

Net periodic benefit costs.........................   ¥ 3,078     ¥ 3,564     ¥ 3,221     $ 27,730  

 

In addition to the above net periodic benefit costs, the costs for the defined contribution pension plan recorded as 
operating expense were ¥808 million ($7,279 thousand), ¥740 million and ¥702 million for the years ended March 31, 
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Group also recorded “Special severance benefits” for the year ended March 31, 
2019, 2018 and 2017, in the amount of ¥2,094 million ($18,865 thousand), ¥332 million and ¥205 million as other 
expense. 
 

(5) Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (before income tax effect) in respect of adjustments for 
retirement benefits for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2017   2019 
Prior service cost...........................................   ¥ 174     ¥    175     ¥ 175     $ 1,567  
Actuarial gains and losses..............................   (242 )   1,783     (127 )   (2,180 ) 

Total...........................................................   ¥  (68 )   ¥ 1,958     ¥   48     $  (613 ) 

 

(6) Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (before income tax effect) in respect of 
accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Unrecognized prior service cost...................................................   ¥    (653 )   ¥    (828 )   $   (5,883 ) 
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses.......................................   (3,745 )   (3,502 )   (33,739 ) 

Total.........................................................................................   ¥ (4,398 )   ¥ (4,330 )   $ (39,622 ) 
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(7) Plan assets 
(a) Components of plan assets 

Plan assets consisted of the following: 
    2019   2018 
Debt investments.....................................................................................................   76%   75% 

Equity investments..................................................................................................   13%   13% 

Others.......................................................................................................................   11%   12% 

Total.....................................................................................................................   100%   100% 

 

(b) Method of determining the expected rate of return on plan assets 
The expected rate of return on plan assets is determined considering the long-term rates of return which are 

expected currently and in the future from the various components of the plan assets. 
 

(8) Assumptions used for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were set forth as follows: 
    2019   2018   2017 
Discount rate.................................................................................   (0.0)－0.2 %    0.1 － 0.4%    0.2 － 0.5% 

Expected rate of return on plan assets...........................................    2.0 －3.0 %    2.0 － 3.0%    2.0 － 3.0% 

 

The salary increase rate is not reflected in calculation of the projected benefit obligations of the main retirement and 
pension plans. 

 

9. Equity 
Japanese companies are subject to the Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”). The significant provisions in 

the Companies Act that affect financial and accounting matters are summarized below: 
 

(a) Dividends 
Under the Companies Act, companies can pay dividends at any time during the fiscal year in addition to the year-end 

dividend upon resolution at the general shareholders’ meeting. Additionally, for companies that meet certain criteria 
including (1) having a Board of Directors, (2) having independent auditors, (3) having an Audit & Supervisory Board, 
and (4) the term of service of the directors being prescribed as one year rather than the normal two-year term by its 
articles of incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare dividends (except for dividends-in-kind) at any time 
during the fiscal year if the company has prescribed so in its articles of incorporation. However, the Company does not 
meet all the above criteria. 

Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a year upon resolution by the Board of Directors if the articles 
of incorporation of the company so stipulate. The Companies Act provides certain limitations on the amounts available 
for dividends or the purchase of treasury stock. The limitation is defined as the amount available for distribution to the 
shareholders, but the amount of net assets after dividends must be maintained at no less than ¥3 million. 
 

(b) Increases / decreases and transfer of common stock, reserve and surplus 
The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a 

component of retained earnings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus) depending on the 
equity account that was charged upon the payment of such dividends, until the aggregate amount of legal reserve and 
additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the common stock. Under the Companies Act, the total amount of additional 
paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without limitation. The Companies Act also provides that common 
stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus and retained earnings can be transferred among the 
accounts within equity under certain conditions upon resolution of the shareholders. 
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(c) Treasury stock and treasury stock acquisition rights 
The Companies Act also provides for companies to purchase treasury stock and dispose of such treasury stock by 

resolution of the Board of Directors. The amount of treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the amount available for 
distribution to the shareholders which is determined by a specific formula. Under the Companies Act, stock acquisition 
rights are presented as a separate component of equity. The Companies Act also provides that companies can purchase 
both treasury stock acquisition rights and treasury stock. Such treasury stock acquisition rights are presented as a 
separate component of equity or deducted directly from stock acquisition rights. 

 

10. Research and Development Costs 
Research and development costs charged to income were ¥39,578 million ($356,559 thousand), ¥38,852 million and 

¥37,277 million for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 

11. Amortization of Goodwill 
There is no relevant information for the year ended March 31, 2019. Amortization of goodwill was ¥392 million and 

¥386 million for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 

12. Income Taxes 
The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are subject to Japanese national and local income taxes 

which, in the aggregate, resulted in normal effective statutory tax rates of approximately 30.5% for the years ended 
March 31, 2019, and 30.7% for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. Foreign consolidated subsidiaries are subject 
to income taxes of the countries in which they operate. 

The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities at March 31, 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Deferred tax assets:               

Marketable and investment securities.......................................   ¥       958     ¥       532     $      8,631  
Inventories.................................................................................   5,088     5,764     45,838  
Depreciation and amortization..................................................   3,894     3,326     35,081  
Tax loss carryforwards..............................................................   13,910     22,174     125,315  
Accrued expenses......................................................................   2,754     2,540     24,811  
Liability for retirement benefits................................................   2,961     2,867     26,676  
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets...................................   5,040     5,155     45,405  
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies.............   7,254     7,254     65,351  
Others........................................................................................   3,637     2,371     32,766  
Total of tax loss carryforwards and temporary differences.......   45,496     51,983     409,874  
Less valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards................   (12,731 )   *     (114,694 ) 
Less valuation allowance for temporary differences.................   (12,425 )   *     (111,937 ) 
Total valuation allowance.........................................................   (25,156 )   (33,525 )   (226,631 ) 

Deferred tax assets........................................................................   ¥  20,340     ¥  18,458     $  183,243  
                

Deferred tax liabilities:               

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries.........................   ¥ (19,507 )   ¥ (19,134 )   $ (175,739 ) 
Asset for retirement benefits.....................................................   (539 )   (518 )   (4,856 ) 
Depreciation and amortization..................................................   (387 )   (272 )   (3,486 ) 
Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities.................   (12,445 )   (13,915 )   (112,118 ) 
Other..........................................................................................   (709 )   (380 )   (6,387 ) 

Deferred tax liabilities...................................................................   (33,587 )   (34,219 )   (302,586 ) 
                

Net deferred tax liabilities.............................................................   ¥ (13,247 )   ¥ (15,761 )   $ (119,343 ) 
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The expiration of tax loss carryforwards, the related valuation allowances and the resulting net deferred tax assets as 
of March 31, 2019 was as follows: 

  Millions of Yen 

  2019 

  1 Year or Less   
After 1 Year 

through 2 Years   
After 2 Years 

through 3 Years   
After 3 Years 

through 4 Years   
After 4 Years 

through 5 Years   After 5 Years   Total 

Deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards................. ¥ 1,189    ¥ 673    ¥ 1,883    ¥ 1,032 

 

  ¥ 205 
 

  ¥ 8,928 
 

  ¥ 13,910 
 

Less valuation 
allowances for tax loss 
carryforwatds................. (853 )   (570 )   (1,810 )   (1,032 )   (162 )   (8,304 )   (12,731 ) 
Net deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards................. ¥    336    ¥ 103    ¥      73     

 

  ¥   43 
 

  ¥    624 
 

  ¥   1,179 
 

 

  Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

  2019 

  1 Year or Less   
After 1 Year 

through 2 Years   
After 2 Years 

through 3 Years   
After 3 Years 

through 4 Years   
After 4 Years 

through 5 Years   After 5 Years   Total 

Deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards................. $ 10,712    $ 6,063    ¥ 16,964    $ 9,297 

 

  $ 1,847 
 

  $ 80,432 
 

  $ 125,315 
 

Less valuation 
allowances for tax loss 
carryforwatds................. (7,685 )   (5,135 )   (16,306 )   (9,297 )   (1,460 )   (74,811 )   (114,694 ) 
Net deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards................. $   3,027    $    928    ¥      658     

 

  $    387 
 

  $   5,621 
 

  $   10,621 
 

 

The relevant information for the year of 2018 have not been stated under the transitional treatment provided in Item 
7 of the “Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting.” 
 

The reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of income for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 
    2019   2018   2017 
Normal effective statutory tax rate...............................................................   30.5  %   30.7  %   30.7  % 

Decrease in valuation allowance...................................................................   (14.9 )     (6.4 )     (13.2 )  
Tax effect of investment in subsidiary..........................................................   (1.2 )     (6.3 )        

Tax credit for research and development expenses.......................................   (2.3 )     (3.4 )     (0.2 )  
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries...   (0.8 )     (0.6 )     (1.0 )  
Realization of expired tax loss carryforwards of liquidated subsidiaries......               (3.4 )  
Difference of tax rate used for tax effect accounting....................................   (0.2 )     1.4      0.6   
Loss on impairment of goodwill...................................................................         3.5         

Income taxes for prior periods......................................................................               5.4   
Expiration of tax loss carryforwards.............................................................   14.4      0.1      0.1   
Other – net.....................................................................................................   (0.1 )     0.9      (0.7 )  

Actual effective tax rate.................................................................................   25.4  %   19.9  %   18.3  % 

 

On December 22, 2017, a tax amendment was enacted in the United States which changed the Federal tax rate for the 
subsidiaries in the United States from 35% to 27% for the fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The effect 
of this change to the consolidated financial statements was immaterial. 

Income taxes for prior periods were principally the additional tax paid according to a notice from the China Taxation 
Bureau related to the transfer pricing taxation for the transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries (ROHM 
SEMICONDUCTOR CHINA CO., LTD.). 
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13. Financial Instruments and Related Disclosures 
(1) Group policy for financial instruments 

The Group manages surplus funds with low-risk financial assets and uses derivatives only as a means to hedge the 
foreign currency exchange rate risk of trade receivables. The Group does not conduct any speculative transactions. 
 

(2) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and risk management 
Receivables, such as notes receivable―trade and accounts receivable―trade, are exposed to customer credit risk. 

Regarding the relevant risks, the Group controls due dates and the receivable balances by customer pursuant to the 
internal rules of the Group, and, at the same time, promotes the early identification and reduction of bad debt risk due 
to financial deterioration. Foreign currency trade receivables are exposed to market risk resulting from fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates. Such foreign currency exchange rate risks are partially hedged by forward foreign 
currency contracts. Securities and investment securities, such as stocks and bonds, are exposed to the risk of market 
price fluctuations. The Group continually reviews the status of possessing such securities and monitoring the fair value 
and the financial positions of issuers and others on a regular basis. The Group purchases only highly rated bonds 
pursuant to the internal policy approved by the Board of Directors, thereby being subject to minimal credit risks. 
 

Payment terms of payables, such as notes payable―trade and accounts payable―trade, are primarily less than one 
year. These payables are exposed to liquidity risk and the Group manages the risk by preparing and updating financing 
plans as appropriate. 

The Group enters into derivative transactions pursuant to the internal policy approved by the Board of Directors and 
reports the status of the derivative transactions once or more every half year to the Board of Directors. Furthermore, in 
order to reduce credit risks, the Group only conducts derivative transactions with highly rated financial institutions. 
 

(3) Supplemental information to fair value of financial instruments 
Fair values of financial instruments are measured based on quoted market prices or those calculated by other rational 

valuation techniques in the case a quoted price is not available. Since variation factors are incorporated to calculate this 
fair value, the use of different preconditions may change this value. 
 

(4) Fair values of financial instruments 
Carrying amounts of financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet, their fair values, and differences as of 

March 31, 2019 and 2018, are shown in the table in (a) below. Any financial instruments whose fair values cannot be 
readily determinable are not included (see the table in (b) below). 

 

(a) Fair value of financial instruments 
    Millions of Yen 
    2019 

   
Carrying 
amount   Fair value  

Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Cash and cash equivalents.........................................................   ¥ 228,065     ¥ 228,065       

Marketable securities.................................................................   10,901     10,901       

Short-term investments.............................................................   50,779     50,779       

Notes and accounts receivable – trade.......................................   89,855            

Allowance for doubtful receivable........................................   (60 )          

Notes and accounts receivable – trade net............................   89,795     89,795       

Investment securities.................................................................   86,691     86,691       

Refundable income taxes...........................................................   481     481       

Total..........................................................................................   ¥ 466,712     ¥ 466,712       

                

Notes and accounts payable – trade..........................................   ¥   16,126     ¥   16,126       

Notes and accounts payable – construction and other..............   30,691     30,691       

Income tax payable....................................................................   8,138     8,138       

Total..........................................................................................   ¥   54,955     ¥   54,955       
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    Millions of Yen 
    2018 

   
Carrying 
amount   Fair value  

Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Cash and cash equivalents.........................................................   ¥ 243,974     ¥ 243,974       

Marketable securities.................................................................   16,467     16,467       

Short-term investments.............................................................   45,381     45,381       

Notes and accounts receivable – trade.......................................   90,702            

Allowance for doubtful receivable........................................   (457 )          

Notes and accounts receivable – trade net............................   90,245     90,245       

Investment securities.................................................................   93,526     93,526       

Refundable income taxes...........................................................   206     206       

Total..........................................................................................   ¥ 489,799     ¥ 489,799       

                

Notes and accounts payable – trade..........................................   ¥   18,692     ¥   18,692       

Notes and accounts payable – construction and other..............   30,364     30,364       

Income tax payable....................................................................   10,423     10,423       

Total..........................................................................................   ¥   59,479     ¥   59,479       

 

    Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
    2019 

   
Carrying 
amount   Fair value  

Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Cash and cash equivalents.........................................................   $ 2,054,640     $ 2,054,640       

Marketable securities.................................................................   98,207     98,207       

Short-term investments.............................................................   457,468     457,468       

Notes and accounts receivable – trade.......................................   809,505            

Allowance for doubtful receivable........................................   (541 )          

Notes and accounts receivable – trade net............................   808,964     808,964       

Investment securities.................................................................   781,000     781,000       

Refundable income taxes...........................................................   4,333     4,333       

Total..........................................................................................   $ 4,204,612     $ 4,204,612       

                

Notes and accounts payable – trade..........................................   $    145,279     $    145,279       

Notes and accounts payable – construction and other..............   276,496     276,496       

Income tax payable....................................................................   73,315     73,315       

Total..........................................................................................   $    495,090     $    495,090       

 

Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term investments, Notes and accounts receivable―trade, and Refundable income taxes 
The carrying values of these assets approximate fair value because of their short maturities. 

 

Marketable securities and Investment securities 
The fair values of marketable securities and investment securities are measured at the quoted market price of the 

stock exchange for equity instruments, and at the quoted price obtained from the financial institution for certain debt 
instruments. The fair value information for the marketable and investment securities by classification is included in 
Note 4. 
 

Notes and accounts payable―trade, Notes and accounts payable―construction and other, and Accrued income taxes 
The carrying values of these liabilities approximate fair value because of their short maturities. 

 

Derivatives 
Fair value information for derivatives is included in Note 14. 
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(b) Carrying amount of financial instruments whose fair values cannot be readily determinable 
    Carrying amount 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2019 
Unlisted stock...............................................................................   ¥ 228     ¥ 302     $ 2,054  
Rights under limited partnership agreement for investment.........   84     107     757  
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated 
companies...................................................................................... 

 
680     680     6,126  

 

(c) Maturity analysis for financial assets and securities with contractual maturities 
    Millions of Yen 
    2019 

   
Due in 

1 year or less  
Due after 

1 year through 
5 years 

 
Due after 

5 years through 
10 years 

 
Due after 
10 years 

Cash and cash equivalents.............................   ¥ 228,065                 

Marketable securities:                    

Government and local government bonds..   311                 

Corporate bonds.........................................   10,580                 

Other...........................................................   29                 

Short-term investments...................................   50,779                 

Notes and accounts receivable – trade............   89,855                 

Investment securities:                    

Corporate bonds.........................................        ¥ 22,846            

Refundable income taxes................................   481                 

Total................................................................   ¥ 380,100     ¥ 22,846            

 

 

    Millions of Yen 
    2018 

   
Due in 

1 year or less  
Due after 

1 year through 
5 years 

 
Due after 

5 years through 
10 years 

 
Due after 
10 years 

Cash and cash equivalents.............................   ¥ 243,974                 

Marketable securities:                    

Government and local government bonds..   128                 

Corporate bonds.........................................   15,854                 

Other...........................................................   599                 

Short-term investments...................................   45,381                 

Notes and accounts receivable – trade............   90,702                 

Investment securities:                    

Government and local government bonds..        ¥        11            

Corporate bonds.........................................        20,326     ¥ 1,966       

Refundable income taxes................................   206                 

Total................................................................   ¥ 396,844     ¥ 20,337     ¥ 1,966       
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    Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
    2019 

   
Due in 

1 year or less  
Due after 

1 year through 
5 years 

 
Due after 

5 years through 
10 years 

 
Due after 
10 years 

Cash and cash equivalents.............................   $ 2,054,640                 

Marketable securities:                    

Government and local government bonds..   2,802                 

Corporate bonds.........................................   95,315                 

Other...........................................................   261                 

Short-term investments...................................   457,468                 

Notes and accounts receivable – trade............   809,505                 

Investment securities:                    

Corporate bonds.........................................        $ 205,820            

Refundable income taxes................................   4,333                 

Total................................................................   $ 3,424,324     $ 205,820            

 

 

14. Derivatives 
The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge foreign currency exchange rate risk associated 

with certain assets denominated in foreign currencies. 
All derivative transactions are entered into to hedge foreign currency exposures incorporated within the Group’s 

business. Accordingly, market risk in these derivatives is generally offset by opposite movements in the value of the 
hedged assets. The Group does not hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes. 

Because the counterparties to these derivatives are limited to major international financial institutions, the Group 
does not anticipate any losses arising from credit risk. 

Derivative transactions entered into by the Group have been made in accordance with internal policies which 
regulate the authorization and credit limit amount. 
 

Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting was not applied were as follows: 
  Millions of Yen 
  2019 

 
Contract 
amount  

Contract 
amount due 
after 1 year 

  Fair value  
Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Foreign currency forward contracts:                  

Selling U.S.$................................................... ¥ 10,569          ¥ (41 )   ¥ (41 ) 
Selling Euros................................................... 1,896          27     27  

 

  Millions of Yen 
  2018 

 
Contract 
amount  

Contract 
amount due 
after 1 year 

  Fair value  
Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Foreign currency forward contracts:                  

Selling U.S.$................................................... ¥ 11,826          ¥ 68     ¥ 68  
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

33



 

  Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
  2019 

 
Contract 
amount  

Contract 
amount due 
after 1 year 

  Fair value  
Unrealized 
gain/loss 

Foreign currency forward contracts:                  

Selling U.S.$................................................... $ 95,216          $ (369 )   $ (369 ) 
Selling Euros................................................... 17,081          243     243  

 

 

15. Leases 
The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries lease certain machinery, computer equipment and other assets. 

Total lease payments under finance leases were ¥16 million ($144 thousand), ¥19 million and ¥12 million for the years 
ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 

Obligations under finance leases and future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases were as 
follows: 
    Millions of Yen   Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
    2019   2018   2019 

   
Finance 
leases  

Operating 
leases  

Finance 
leases  

Operating 
leases  

Finance 
leases  

Operating 
leases 

Due within 1 year..........   ¥ 19     ¥ 1,202     ¥ 17     ¥    999     $ 171     $ 10,829  
Due after 1 year.............   32     1,828     15     1,463     288     16,468  
Total..............................   ¥ 51     ¥ 3,030     ¥ 32     ¥ 2,462     $ 459     $ 27,297  

 

 

16. Contingent Liabilities 
The Group was contingently liable for guarantees of housing loans of employees amounting to ¥41 million ($369 

thousand) at March 31, 2019. 
 

17. Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
The components of other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, were as 

follows: 

    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

    2019   2018   2017   2019 
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities:                    

Gains arising during the year....................................   ¥ (5,388 )   ¥ 12,127     ¥ 12,797     $ (48,541 ) 
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss...........   (1,162 )   (4 )   (104 )   (10,468 ) 
Amount before income tax effect.............................   (6,550 )   12,123     12,693     (59,009 ) 
Income tax effect......................................................   1,468     (3,630 )   (3,758 )   13,225  
Total..........................................................................   ¥ (5,082 )   ¥   8,493     ¥   8,935     $ (45,784 ) 
                     

Foreign currency translation adjustments:                    

Adjustments arising during the year.........................   ¥  5,229     ¥       (47 )   ¥  (3,867 )   $ 47,108  
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss...........   (41 )             (369 ) 
Amount before income tax effect.............................   5,188     (47 )   (3,867 )   46,739  
Income tax effect......................................................   2     295          18  
Total..........................................................................   ¥  5,190     ¥      248     ¥  (3,867 )   $ 46,757  
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    Millions of Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

Adjustments for retirement benefits:                    

Adjustments arising during the year.................   ¥    (972 )   ¥      628     ¥  (1,074 )   $ (8,757 ) 
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss......   904     1,330     1,122     8,144  
Amount before income tax effect.......................   (68 )   1,958     48     (613 ) 
Income tax effect............................................   (1 )   (371 )   (195 )   (9 ) 
Total...........................................................   ¥      (69 )   ¥   1,587     ¥     (147 )   $    (622 ) 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)................   ¥       39     ¥ 10,328     ¥   4,921     $     351  

 

 

18. Subsequent Event 
Appropriation of retained earnings 

The following appropriation of retained earnings at March 31, 2019, was approved at the Company’s general 
shareholders’ meeting held on June 27, 2019. 

   
Millions of 

Yen  
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

Year-end cash dividends, ¥75.00 ($0.68) per share.....................................................   ¥ 7,838   $ 70,613 
 
 

19. Segment Information 
Under ASBJ Statement No. 17 “Accounting Standard for Segment Information Disclosures,” and ASBJ Guidance

No. 20 “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Segment Information Disclosures,” an entity is required to report 
financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments. Reportable segments are operating segments or 
aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. 

Operating segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available and such 
information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decisionmaker in deciding how to allocate resources and in 
assessing performance. Generally, segment information is required to be reported on the same basis as is used
internally for evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments. 
 

(a) Description of reportable segments 
The Group’s reportable segments are those for which separate financial information is available and regular 

evaluation by the Company’s Board of Directors is being performed in order to decide how resources are allocated 
among the Group. 

The Group is a comprehensive manufacturer of electronic components, and sets up operational divisions by 
individual product category at its headquarters. Each operational division draws up comprehensive production plans 
and business strategies for both domestic and overseas operations, and develops global production activities. Therefore, 
from a management standpoint, the Group places great importance on monitoring profits and losses by operating 
segments organized as operational divisions of individual product categories. For this reason, the Group aggregates 
operating segments in consideration of characteristics of the products that each operational division manufactures and 
similarities of production processes, and has three reportable segments “ICs”, “Discrete semiconductor devices” and 
“Modules.” In the ICs segment, products such as analog ICs, logic ICs, memory ICs and MEMS are manufactured. 

 Products manufactured in the Discrete semiconductor devices segment include diodes, transistors, light-emitting 
diodes, and laser diodes. Products manufactured in the Modules segment include print-heads, optical modules, and 
power modules. 
 

(b) Methods of measurement for the amounts of sales, profit (loss), assets and other items for each reportable 
segment 
The accounting policies of each reportable segment are basically consistent with those disclosed in Note 2, 

“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” 
Operating income is applied in “Segment profit.” “Intersegment sales or transfers” are calculated based on the 

market price. 
Although assets of common divisions, such as sales and administrative divisions, are included in “Reconciliations,” 

depreciation and amortization expense of these assets are allocated to each operating segment according to in-house 
criteria to calculate the profit of each segment. 
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(c) Information about sales, profit (loss), assets and other items is as follows: 
  Millions of Yen 

  2019 

  Reportable segments  
Other 

 
Total 

 
Reconcili- 

ations 

  
Consolidated 

  ICs   
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total 
 

      

Sales:                               

Sales to external customers........... ¥ 183,313   ¥ 152,862   ¥ 40,159   ¥ 376,334   ¥ 22,655   ¥ 398,989         ¥ 398,989 

Intersegment sales or transfers...... 2,559   6,933   43   9,535   61   9,596   ¥   (9,596 )     

Total............................................ 185,872   159,795   40,202   385,869   22,716   408,585   (9,596 )   398,989 

Segment profit.................................... 15,990   30,054   5,918   51,962   4,094   56,056   (147 )   55,909 

Segment assets.................................... 129,030   126,836   17,157   273,023   19,316   292,339   582,089     874,428 

Other                                

Depreciation and amortization....... 20,908   20,055   3,279   44,242   2,006   46,248   (832 )   45,416 

Amortization of goodwill................                                

Increase in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 17,119   30,407   1,980   49,506   4,695   54,201   3,090     57,291 

 

  Millions of Yen 

  2018 

  Reportable segments  
Other 

 
Total 

 
Reconcili- 

ations 

  
Consolidated 

  ICs   
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total 
 

      

Sales:                               

Sales to external customers........... ¥ 183,431   ¥ 149,915   ¥ 41,830   ¥ 375,176   ¥ 21,931   ¥ 397,107         ¥ 397,107 

Intersegment sales or transfers...... 2,875   9,218   91   12,184   53   12,237   ¥  (12,237 )     

Total............................................ 186,306   159,133   41,921   387,360   21,984   409,344   (12,237 )   397,107 

Segment profit.................................... 20,182   32,193   3,794   56,169   2,968   59,137   (2,132 )   57,005 

Segment assets.................................... 122,043   103,058   18,581   243,682   15,151   258,833   605,239     864,072 

Other                                

Depreciation and amortization....... 20,293   18,638   3,725   42,656   1,598   44,254   (847 )   43,407 

Amortization of goodwill................ 392           392       392        392 
Increase in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 25,078   23,149   1,185   49,412   4,407   53,819   2,092    55,911 
 

  Millions of Yen 

  2017 

  Reportable segments  

Other 
 

Total 
 

Reconcili- 
ations 

  

Consolidated 
  ICs   

Discrete 
semiconductor 

devices 
  Modules   Total 

 
      

Sales:                               

Sales to external customers........... ¥ 161,195   ¥ 130,036   ¥ 39,609   ¥ 330,840   ¥ 21,170   ¥ 352,010         ¥ 352,010 

Intersegment sales or transfers...... 2,723   6,474   32   9,229   79   9,308   ¥    (9,308 )     

Total............................................ 163,918   136,510   39,641   340,069   21,249   361,318   (9,308 )   352,010 

Segment profit.................................... 9,064   20,917   1,793   31,774   1,498   33,272   (1,444 )   31,828 

Segment assets.................................... 118,318   91,516   21,629   231,463   13,121   244,584   589,920     834,504 

Other                                

Depreciation and amortization....... 18,421   17,039   3,747   39,207   2,393   41,600   (799 )   40,801 

Amortization of goodwill................ 386           386       386        386 
Increase in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 16,485   17,705   2,709   36,899   1,926   38,825   3,358    42,183 
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  Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

  2019 

  Reportable segments  

Other 
 

Total 
 

Reconcili- 
ations 

  

Consolidated 
  ICs   

Discrete 
semiconductor 

devices 
  Modules   Total 

 
      

Sales:                               

Sales to external customers........... $ 1,651,468   $ 1,377,135   $ 361,793   $ 3,390,396   $ 204,099   $ 3,594,495         $ 3,594,495 

Intersegment sales or transfers...... 23,054   62,459   387   85,900   550   86,450   $     (86,450 )     

Total............................................ 1,674,522   1,439,594   362,180   3,476,296   204,649   3,680,945   (86,450 )   3,594,495 

Segment profit.................................... 144,054   270,757   53,315   468,126   36,883   505,009   (1,324 )   503,685 

Segment assets.................................... 1,162,432   1,142,667   154,568   2,459,667   174,018   2,633,685   5,244,045     7,877,730 

Other                                

Depreciation and amortization....... 188,360   180,676   29,541   398,577   18,072   416,649   (7,496 )   409,153 

Amortization of goodwill................                                

Increase in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 154,225   273,937   17,838   446,000   42,297   488,297   27,838    516,135 
 

“Other” includes operating segments that are not included in the reportable segments, consisting of business in 
resistors and tantalum capacitors and others. 
 

“Reconciliations” were as follows: 
(1) The adjusted amount of the segment profit for the year ended March 31, 2019, ¥(147) million ($(1,324) 

thousand), mainly includes general and administrative expenses of ¥(773) million ($(6,964) thousand) not 
attributable to the operating segments, and the settlement adjustment of ¥626 million ($5,640 thousand) not 
allocated to the operating segments (such as periodic pension cost). 

The adjusted amount of the segment profit for the year ended March 31, 2018, ¥(2,132) million, mainly 
includes general and administrative expenses of ¥(806) million not attributable to the operating segments, and the 
settlement adjustment of ¥(1,326) million not allocated to the operating segments (such as periodic pension cost). 

The adjusted amount of the segment profit for the year ended March 31, 2017, ¥(1,444) million, mainly 
includes general and administrative expenses of ¥(778) million not attributable to the operating segments, and the 
settlement adjustment of ¥(666) million  not allocated to the operating segments (such as periodic pension cost). 

 

(2) The adjusted amount of the segment assets for the year ended March 31, 2019, ¥582,089 million ($5,244,045 
thousand), mainly includes corporate assets of ¥583,366 million ($5,255,550 thousand) not allocated to the 
operating segments, and the adjustments of fixed asset of ¥(1,277) million ($(11,505) thousand). Corporate assets 
not attributable to the operating segments mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents of ¥228,065 million 
($2,054,640 thousand), investment securities of ¥87,033 million ($783,811 thousand), and notes and accounts 
receivable-trade of ¥89,855 million ($809,505 thousand). 

The adjusted amount of the segment assets for the year ended March 31, 2018, ¥605,239 million, mainly 
includes corporate assets of ¥607,183 million not allocated to the operating segments, and the adjustments of fixed 
asset of ¥(1,944) million. Corporate assets not attributable to the operating segments mainly consist of cash and 
cash equivalents of ¥243,974 million, land of ¥93,935 million, and notes and accounts receivable-trade of ¥90,702 
million. 

The adjusted amount of the segment assets for the year ended March 31, 2017, ¥589,920 million, mainly 
includes corporate assets of ¥592,093 million not allocated to the operating segments, and the adjustments of fixed 
asset of ¥(2,173) million. Corporate assets not attributable to the operating segments mainly consist of cash and 
cash equivalents of ¥246,015 million, investment securities of ¥80,404 million, and notes and accounts receivable-
trade of ¥81,833 million. 

 

(3) The adjusted amount of depreciation and amortization relates to the settlement adjustment not allocated to the 
operating segments (such as unrealized profit or loss on fixed assets). 
 

(4) The adjusted amount of increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible fixed assets relates to common 
divisions, such as sales and administrative divisions. 
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(d) Relevant information 
For the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 
(1) Information about products and services 

The classification of products and services has been omitted as it is identical to the segment classification. 
 

(2) Information about geographical areas 
(i) Sales 

Millions of Yen 
2019 

Japan   China   Other   Total 
¥ 136,392    ¥ 116,342    ¥ 146,255    ¥ 398,989  

 

Millions of Yen 
2018 

Japan   China   Other   Total 
¥ 125,505    ¥ 123,990    ¥ 147,612    ¥ 397,107  

 

Millions of Yen 
2017 

Japan   China   Other   Total 
¥ 106,226    ¥ 115,647    ¥ 130,137    ¥ 352,010  

 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
2019 

Japan   China   Other   Total 
$ 1,228,757    $ 1,048,126    $ 1,317,612    $ 3,594,495  

 

Sales are classified by country or region based on the location of customers. 
 

(ii) Property, plant and equipment 
Millions of Yen 

2019 
Japan   China   Thailand   Philippines   Other   Total 
¥ 155,461    ¥ 17,911    ¥ 26,679     ¥ 28,963     ¥ 22,631    ¥ 251,645  

 

Millions of Yen 
2018 

Japan   China   Thailand   Philippines   Other   Total 
¥ 146,469    ¥ 18,964    ¥ 28,430     ¥ 25,759     ¥ 20,605    ¥ 240,227  

 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars 
2019 

Japan   China   Thailand   Philippines   Other   Total 
$ 1,400,550    $ 161,360    $ 240,351     $ 260,928     $ 203,883    $ 2,267,072  

 

(3) Information about major customers 
Since there are no customers who accounted for more than 10% of sales to external customers in the consolidated 

statement of income, the information has been omitted. 
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(e) Information regarding loss on impairment of long-lived assets of reportable segments 
  Millions of Yen 

  2019 

  Reportable segments   

Other 

  
Reconcili- 

ations 

  

Consolidated 

Loss on impairment of 

long-lived assets................ 

ICs  
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total      

                         

¥ 487   ¥ 217   ¥ 20   ¥ 724   ¥ 662   ¥ 12   ¥ 1,398 
 

  Millions of Yen 

  2018 

  Reportable segments   

Other 

  
Reconcili- 

ations 

  

Consolidated 

Loss on impairment of 

long-lived assets................ 

ICs   
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total       

                         

¥ 6,916   ¥ 108   ¥ 19   ¥ 7,043   ¥ 4       ¥ 7,047 
 

  Millions of Yen 

  2017 

  Reportable segments   

Other 

  
Reconcili- 

ations 

  

Consolidated 

Loss on impairment of 

long-lived assets................ 

ICs   
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total       

                         

¥ 100       ¥ 22   ¥ 122   ¥ 2,196   ¥ 137   ¥ 2,455 
 

  Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

  2019 

  Reportable segments   

Other 

  
Reconcili- 

ations 

  

Consolidated 

Loss on impairment of 

long-lived assets................ 

ICs  
Discrete 

semiconductor 
devices 

  Modules   Total      

                         

$ 4,388   $ 1,955   $ 180   $ 6,523   $ 5,964   $ 108   $ 12,595 
 

The amount under “Other” for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is mainly for impairment loss on 
tantalum capacitors. 
 

(f) Information regarding amortization of goodwill and carrying amount of reportable segments 
There is no relevant information about the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 

2018. Amortization of goodwill has been omitted as similar information is disclosed in “(c) Information about sales, 
profit (loss), assets and other items.” 
 

(g) Information regarding profit for negative goodwill of reportable segments 
There is no relevant information for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. 
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